
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 
Economy and 
Growth Scrutiny 
Panel 
27 September 2023 

 
Time 
 

6.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Committee Room 3 - 3rd Floor - Civic Centre 

Membership 
 
Chair Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Udey Singh (Con) 
 
Labour Conservative  

Cllr Qaiser Azeem 
Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Ciaran Brackenridge 
Cllr Claire Darke 
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar 
Cllr Celia Hibbert 
Cllr Harbinder Singh 
Cllr Iqra Tahir 
 

Cllr Ellis Turrell 
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors. 
 
Information for the Public 
 
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Scrutiny Team: 

Contact Lee Booker 
Tel/Email Lee.Booker@Wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Scrutiny Office, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 
Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  
Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  
Tel 01902 555046 
 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 3 

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 
 



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 3 of 3 

Agenda 
 
Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 
  
1 Apologies  
  
2 Declarations of interest  
  
3 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 
  
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
  
4 ‘Event City’: a new five-year event strategy for Wolverhampton  
 [Ian Fegan to deliver Report to the Panel] 

  
5 National Brownfield Institute & Green Innovation Corridor (Pages 13 - 20) 
 [Richard Lawrence to Present to the Panel] 

  
6 Former Heath Town Baths (Pages 21 - 32) 
 [Richard Lawrence to Present to the Panel] 

  
7 Date of next meeting 29 11 23  
  



This page is intentionally left blank



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 

Economy and Growth 
Scrutiny Panel 
Minutes - 21 June 2023 

 
Attendance 

 
Members of the Economy and Growth Scrutiny Panel 
 
Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Ciaran Brackenridge 
Cllr Claire Darke 
Cllr Harbinder Singh 
Cllr Udey Singh (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman (Chair) 
Cllr Iqra Tahir 
Cllr Ellis Turrell 
 
In Attendance 
Cllr Stephen Simkins (Deputy Leader) 
Cllr Louise Miles (Cabinet Member for Jobs and Skills) 

 
 
 
 

 
Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
Item No. Title 

 
1 Apologies 

Apologies were received from Cllr Sally Green and Cllr Jasbinder Dehar. 
 

2 Welcome and Introduction 
The Chair welcomed the Panel. 
 

3 Declarations of interest 
There were no declarations of interest. 

Employees 
Lee Booker (Scrutiny Officer) 
Mark Taylor (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Richard Lawrence (Director of Regeneration) 
Isobel Woods (Head of Enterprise) 
Julie Obada (Head of Skills) 
Laura Collings (Head of Policy & Strategy) 

  

 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 
4 Minutes of previous meeting (15 February 2023) 

Resolved: That the minutes of 15 February 2023 be approved as a correct record. 
 

5 Portfolio for City Inclusive Economy about his Plans and Priorities for the 
Municipal Year 
The Deputy Leader stated that he had 10 priorities for the City’s Economy and 
believed it was vital to help get the City through the cost of living crisis. Part of this 
was to encourage more local jobs for local people, to work with and encourage youth 
employment and to be climate conscious with the targeting of skills and delivery of 
employment. Improving the visitor economy to the City was also key so that more 
people visited the City from the local area and further afield to bring more commerce. 
He wanted the City to be a caring City, where residents were looked after, he said 
work was being targeted at the care sector, which would also contribute to 
employment in the area. Support for communities was paramount, especially during 
the cost-of-living crisis; Community Hubs were seen as essential for this and were 
delivering services. Thriving families were key to regenerate the population in the 
City and maintain its high youth statistics. Healthier lives policies were being pursued 
to ensure the biopolitical strength of the City. All of this was to be unpinned by an 
efficient and inclusive local authority. 
 
The Deputy Leader informed the Panel that as part of creating a thriving local 
economy, they wanted the bring in a further 30,000 visitors with a predicted boost to 
local economy of £10 million. They wanted to invest in new jobs, in particular the 
creative sector. For Visitor Economy, investment into the City centre and local towns 
was being pursued as well as further investment in the learning sector to help upskill 
local people. Collaboration on the I54 site extension and in engaging businesses had 
occurred between The City of Wolverhampton Council and South Staffordshire 
Council. 
 
The Director of Regeneration then opened a presentation (a copy of which is 
attached to the signed minutes).  He displayed and summarised a number of projects 
which had been delivered: I9, Bilston Urban Village, National Brownfield Institute, 
Transport Interchange, I54, I10, The Civic Halls, Art Gallery. Over the 12 months 
previous to the Scrutiny Panel meeting, 9 funding successes had been achieved, 
with a future proposal for further funding from the West Midlands Combined 
Authority. The Director of Regeneration informed the Panel that over the previous 12 
months, Wolverhampton Employer Support, had supported 568 businesses which 
included start up businesses and had opened up 2529 new job vacancies which 
included 89 apprenticeships. He explained future priority projects were: Horsely 
Fields, Green Innovation Corridor, Canalside South, Brewers Yard, Interchange 8, 
Stream mill and Sackworks, a Hotel, Commercial District, City Centre West and St 
Georges. He covered the City Investment Priorities for the future 12 months which 
were: City Investment Strategy, Working arrangements with the West Midlands 
Growth Company, Events and Marketing Plan, Business Week 2023, IGNITE and 
WES, Wolverhampton Investment Prospectus, Global West Midlands, Strategic 
Relationship Management.  
 
A Councillor praised the comments made but said he would like thinking to go 
beyond 12 months and be even more long term. 
 
A member of the Panel queried the reported Hotel project, he referred to the 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Birmingham Unite the Union headquarters building which went a further £60 million 
over estimated budget and wanted further oversight to ensure similar mistakes were 
not made with the building of the Wolverhampton Hotel, via public money. 
  
The Deputy Leader replied emphasising the importance of the Council working with 
its partners to invite private investment into the Hotel business. He also stressed the 
link with the West Midlands Combined Authority, as much of the project funding 
came from that government body. However, he stated that the work of the City of 
Wolverhampton Council and its Officers were the reason why this money was 
released as they had demonstrated they used the money adequately. 
 
The Director of Regeneration informed the Panel that they had done a supply and 
demand analysis on the hotel sector, as well as applying a lessons learned approach 
from previous projects. He said that most Hotels outside of London required a public 
sector subsidy and they had been liaising with other local authorities to see how they 
had done such projects. They had also been approached by other companies in the 
City to discuss Hotels which did not require public sector subsidy which were of a 
lower end quality and price. 
 
The Vice Chair discussed the visitor economy and hotel market. He wanted to know 
how they planned on working with partners to make the Hotel more attractive to 
private investors. 
  
The Director of Regeneration answered that two approaches could be taken. The 
first was the Hotel would be developed through the public sector and then a franchise 
procured. The second was working with a private developer where they would take 
on the risk and management of the building instead.  He stated that demand side, 
there was a strong demand from the private sector for a suitable hotel to 
accommodate visitors to some of the major employers in Wolverhampton and that 
business was currently being lost to Birmingham or Stafford. He also stated the 
University of Wolverhampton also brought forwards the same demands.  The Council 
was working with consultants to gather further information on this before they moved 
forwards. 
 
The Vice Chair asked which British based investors were the Council speaking to for 
the project. 
 
The Deputy Leader stated they would speak to anyone who wanted to invest in the 
City. 
 
The Director of Regeneration replied that most investment came from the South East 
of the country, and that they would also like to get more investment from the North 
West. He said a lot of the investment came from internal investors but that they 
would also like to work long term to attract more foreign investment. 
 
Resolved: that the Regeneration team report back to the Panel when the Visitor 
Economy is discussed with further details on investments, subject to the 
commercially sensitive information rules.  
 
This was agreed by the Panel. 
 
The paper was agreed and accepted by the Panel. 

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

  
  
 

6 Supporting the City’s Businesses 
The Head of Enterprise set out the aim of the presentation (a copy of which is 
attached to the signed minutes), to show where they were at and where they planned 
on going in the future with supporting the City’s businesses. Due to the United 
Kingdom leaving the European Union, the Council hired Metrodynamics to review the 
landscape of the City’s businesses and recommend a new framework. The 
government announced the Levelling Up policy in 2022 followed by the UK Shared 
Prosperity Funds. This fund was set to replace the European Union funding, but at a 
significantly lower level of funding. By October 2022, the West Midlands Combined 
Authority agreed a co-ordinated regional approach for business support. In March 
2023, the Government closed all Local Enterprise Partnerships and Growth Hubs 
nationally, in April 2023 Wolverhampton Employer Support went live. The Head of 
Enterprise informed the Panel of the current position; they were waiting receipt of the 
UKSPF and were confirming what data and evidence was still outstanding such as 
engagement with employers and employer groups, the plan was to link with other 
strategic key points in the City plan. They were engaging with stakeholders to co-
plan and co-produce future business support policies. They aimed to come back to 
Scrutiny Panel on this later in the year. Businesses which had received EU funding 
had fed back that the knowledge they received in business oversight was more 
successful than the grant money received.  
 
A Councillor was disappointed the workplace champions scheme wasn’t mentioned 
in the presentation. He enquired if information on how the IGNITE scheme was 
progressing, which had been in operation for 12 months. He wanted feedback on its 
success.  
 
 
The Head of Enterprise apologised that it did not come across in the report that the 
Workplace Champions scheme and other existing partnership policies were being 
utilised. She stated these networks were also being utilised as part of this plan but 
she had used the presentation to show what other ways were being planned or 
utilised to support the City economy and employers.  The Head of Enterprise said 
they were still in the process of collating the data and feedback from the IGNITE 
scheme and would be happy to bring it to Scrutiny when it was ready. 
 
The Deputy Leader added that it was important all these schemes were utilised and 
that communication with employers was maintained. He stated that the new 
challenge would be the lower levels of money under the new UKSPP compared to 
former EU funding and stated getting this across to businesses in the City was the 
next step.  
 
A Panel member asked how well communications with businesses was really going, 
citing that in his opinion, the Council had performed poorly dealing with businesses in 
the City centre impacted by the street pedestrianisation program. He wanted to know 
what lessons had been learnt to avoid the same thing happening in the future. He 
also raised the matter of reports that are produced by consultants that the Council 
pays for and stated he would like to see those reports brought to Scrutiny.  
 
The Chair added that she wanted to know how they determined the success of 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

communication/engagement with businesses.  
 
The Head of Enterprise informed the Panel that they worked with partners, which 
included meeting business federations and other similar groups for discussion and 
feedback. They had also undertaken surveys with some partners previously. They 
had more flexibility with who they could work with now the country was out of the 
European Union, as the European Union had strict criteria as to what sectors they 
could fund. 
 
The Chair sought further clarification and asked if this meant the Council was still in 
the early stages in figuring out the best practice to work with businesses. 
 
The Head of Enterprise replied that they were working with everyone and that now 
the UK had left the EU, this meant they were now able to work with businesses and 
sectors they hadn’t worked with before. 
 
 
The Director of Regeneration added that it was important to note that there were 
other sources of business support alongside the Local Authority and that working 
with partners, it was important to ensure businesses sought support from the right 
sources. 
  
Resolved: that the Metrodynamics and RSM reports circulated to members of the 
Panel. For the RSM Report, legal advice be taken before disclosure and the report 
be distributed in a content and format as appropriate. 
 
 

7 Supporting more people into jobs and training 
 

The Head of Skills gave a presentation on Education and Skills (a copy of the 
presentation is attached to the signed minutes). She summarised the current 
strengths the City had towards employment support. She felt some of the strengths 
in the City were nationally strong, those were 20 secondary schools,19 with sixth 
forms, 54 independent training providers. 8 Colleges delivered learning to City 
residents. There were more City of Wolverhampton schools rated as ”good”  by 
Ofsted than the national average. Online learning had increased in usage during and 
then post-Covid lock down. There were low levels of young people who did not 
participate in employment, education or training (years 16 – 17), a youth employment 
HUB, extensive data collection. 
 
The Youth Employment HUB had finished its first year, it had a target of 300 people, 
it managed over 400 with 30 percent who moved into employment.  The Head of 
Skills listed the current challenges to be dealt with, these were: 
 
 
 

       high levels of long-standing unemployment (especially between 18 to 24) 
  

       low levels of formal qualifications compared to regional and national averages 
 
 

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

       low level essential skills  
 
 

       an imbalance of skills in reference to qualifications and experience thus 
meaning a skills shortage in the area 
 
 

       employers were focused on hiring employees and not developing existing staff 
with upskilling or reskilling 
 
 

       loss of European Union funds 
 
 

       legacy issues from the Covid lock down.  
 

 
To address some of the challenges, in particular the loss of European Union funding 
and the framework with which that set out, the Council would be taking funding from 
the Commonwealth Games Legacy Fund and the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. They 
also had a development deal between the national government and the West 
Midlands Combined Authority which would see a more place-based approach to 
address Local Authority Specific challenges. The Head of Skills then discussed the 
Wolves at Work programme, which was a cross sector approach to tackling 
unemployment in the City, highlighting its approach in the presentation slides. 
Community Skills delivery targeted supporting adults who were furthest from the jobs 
market to enable them to get skills in a community setting. This included maths 
support tailored towards helping people understand how to budget, second language 
speakers for migrants, skills and well being packages, people with learning 
disabilities and more. They aimed to get community grants in the future towards 
further facilities, taken from the United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund.  A joined 
up approach was being developed in house with the Adult Education Service.  
 
The Head of Policy and Strategy stated that with new investment into the City, there 
were new opportunities, however, she was aware there were many young people 
who would not yet be able to take advantage of those opportunities due to various 
barriers, so strategy was focused on working with young people to enable them to 
progress. The challenges of worklessness were inter-generational and went back 20 
years and would require a long term plan to address. 5 areas of focus for 
transformation and action were:  Children have the best start in life, high quality 
education which prepares young people for work, post 16 education provision that 
meets the needs of employers, lifelong learning pathways to good quality work, a 
new employer support model.  
 
The Vice Chair thanked the team for the report. He stated he had read a statistic that 
Wolverhampton had the second highest number of unemployment benefit claimants 
in the country. He felt that when it came to young people having the best start in life, 
there was statistical evidence that local children from around key stage 3 started to 
drop off in terms of their output quality. He said in English and Maths particularly, 
there were children falling behind. He said he felt the data did not highlight white 
working class children, who made up a massive cohort of the school population. He 
felt the report should have included that group too. He said more engagement 

Page 10



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

needed to occur with parents to stress how important education was at a young age 
for their children. He stated that the future would bring further global competition, with 
countries like Mumbai and Delhi. Citing his own experiences visiting those countries, 
he said the children in those schools were hungry for education because education 
was seen as a ticket out of poverty. He felt this same message was not being driven 
home to students in England, especially Wolverhampton. 
 
The Head of Policy and Strategy felt there was an opportunity in the schemes to 
drive home to families the importance of learning maths and english. She also said 
careers engagement from a young age was key to increase aspirational thinking. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Jobs and Skills stressed the importance of the strategy 
containing practical actions that could be done and emphasised the need for 
increased support around post-18 year olds to target the slump in career based 
trajectories that age group brings with careers advisory. 
 
A Panel member stated that he felt the figures of unemployment across the City were 
too high, and not reducing. He said more needed to be done to reach people to get 
them into employment. 
 
The Head of Skills referred to statistics quoting that the most recent City 
unemployment figures were 28.7 percent, which was higher than regional and 
national averages. However, 26.1 percent of those people said they wanted a job, 
which was higher than the regional and national averages. She explained, however, 
that there were people listed as economically inactive and people who were 
economically inactive but seeking a job. The latter would be on the radar of services 
as they’d be attending the jobcentre for benefits, whereas those not seeking were off 
the radar and were harder to engage with. She informed the Panel the Council was 
in line to receive funding from the United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund, once this 
funding had been granted to the Council, they intended to invest around £1 million 
into reaching economically inactive people. She said it was important to note that 
data sets that report figures of people claiming Universal Credit included people who 
did work but were on low wages or zero hours contracts. She said these were people 
who were under-employed and that they too were a focus to try increase their 
working hours or job prospects. She hoped for devolved powers to local Department 
of Work & Pensions so that they could do place based targeting on these issues, 
rather than a generalised national system as was currently in place. 
 
A Councillor stated that he would be interested in seeing which wards were doing the 
worst on employment figures. 
 
Resolved: That the Employment team come back to the Panel with strategies for 
local wards and how employment and unemployment is in those wards.  The 
information should also contain which wards and services are the weakest links. 

  
  
 
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 

 

Cabinet 
18 October 2023 

 

Report title ‘Event City’: a new five-year event strategy 
for Wolverhampton 

 Decision designation AMBER 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Bhupinder Gakhal 
Visitor City 

Key decision Yes 

In forward plan Yes 

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable Director Ian Fegan, Director of Communications and Visitor 
Experience  
 

Originating service Communications and Visitor Experience 

Accountable employee Ian Fegan Director of Communications and Visitor 
Experience 

Tel:  01902 554286 
Email ian.fegan@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 
Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

Core Services 
Strategic Executive Board 
Economy and Growth 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

14 June / 13 September 2023 
20 June / 19 September 2023 
27 September 2023 

 
Recommendations for decision: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

1. Endorse the strategic aim to use city events as a place-shaping tool to make the City of 
Wolverhampton a ‘destination of choice’ for visitors with the vision that: by 2028, we want 
people to think differently about the city... as a place where things happen, as a place they 
visit, maybe as a place they might look to relocate*.”  
 

2. Endorse the five-year operational events growth plan, recommended by consultants IPW, 
which will deliver a commercially focused programme aimed at boosting footfall, 
increasing economic and social benefit and transforming the reputation of the city.  
 

 

*IPW Report 2023 

Page 13

Agenda Item No: 4



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
3.  Note that additional investment of £399,000 is required to underwrite the delivery of this 

ambitious strategy. Funding will be considered as part of the 2024-2025 budget-setting 
process and medium-term financial strategy (MTFS) planning.  Wherever possible, the 
aim will be, as the strategy sets out, to offset this expenditure through income from 
commercial events and external grant-funding as well as indirect benefit to the local 
economy.   

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

1.0 Purpose 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out the importance of developing an exciting and 

sustainable five-year event strategy for the City of Wolverhampton, as recommended by 
independent specialist consultants IPW. 
 

1.2 This report is part of wider plans to secure the city’s status and reputation regionally and 
nationally as a ’destination of choice’ for visitors and to seek Cabinet`s endorsement to 
deliver this strategy. 

 
2.0 Background 

 
2.1 Transforming the City of Wolverhampton, with a clear vision and plan - and maximising 

both public and private investment to do this - is a key part of the City of Wolverhampton 
Council’s Our City: Our Plan. 
 

2.2 In recent years, the Council has invested in, or secured investment for, over £100 million 
pounds-worth of key visitor economy infrastructure projects. This includes investment in 
a state-of-the-art transport hub at Interchange, next to a new commercial district, The 
Halls Wolverhampton, a new Box Space entertainment zone, new public realm and 
improvements to the city’s Art Gallery. 

 
2.3 Building on this, further investment is being planned as part of the first phase of the 

delivery of the Wolverhampton Investment Prospectus after Cabinet approved in March 
2023 the proposed approach towards the development and implementation of three 
schemes: City Centre West, St George’s and the Accelerated Sites Programme. 
(Wolverhampton Investment Prospectus First Phase Delivery Plan.pdf 
(moderngov.co.uk). 

 
2.4 All of the points detailed above at 2.2 and 2.3 are part of the Council’s wider ‘place-

shaping’ vision to turn the city into a ‘destination of choice’ where people visit and spend 
money in the local economy – supporting jobs and growth and growing the 
Wolverhampton Pound. 
 

2.5 The importance of this is set out in Our City: Our Plan, where a vibrant visitor economy 
has the potential to contribute to all priorities but especially the thriving economy strand. 
Evidence to support investment and growth in this area is further supported by the city’s 
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) which identifies that the visitor, cultural and events sector 
is a key potential growth area for jobs and investment. 
 

2.6 Tourism, arts, culture and events play a key part in the wider ‘city marketing mix’ and 
visitor economy infrastructure / eco-system. 
 

2.7 In recent years, the Council has made a significant contribution to the city’s visitor 
numbers and vibrancy through an active and diverse programme of events across a 
number of council-owned or run venues.  
 

2.8 In the 2022-2023 financial year, this Council-led programme delivered the following: 
 

Page 15

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s235809/Wolverhampton%20Investment%20Prospectus%20First%20Phase%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s235809/Wolverhampton%20Investment%20Prospectus%20First%20Phase%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

1 450,000 visitors to the city 

2. Estimated £14.8 million to the local economy* 

3 Return on investment of 800% when measuring indirect economic benefit** 

 
 * based on figures identified for the West Midlands in the 2015 Great Britain Day Visits 

Survey 
** (ROI in 2022-2023 financial year = gain from investment of £14.8 million minus £1.6 
million cost of the investment / £1.635m x 100%). Although this is not a cashable gain to 
the local authority, it represents a significant gain to the local economy. 

 
2.9 Major events included Vaisakhi (23,000 visitors), the Commonwealth Games Time Trial 

(20,000 visitors), the annual city Fireworks display (17,000), Christmas Lights events 
(nearly 40,000) alongside very many smaller events in parks that attract 50 to 100 
people. 
 

2.10 More recently, Wolverhampton Pride 2023 in June brought 5,000 people into the city 
centre. Just over 300 ticket buyers responded to a post event survey highlighting that the 
average spend on the day in the city centre was £34.42 (contributing £170,000 to the 
local economy) and that Wolverhampton was, they felt, a ‘welcoming’ city. The event also 
raised £6,500 for city LGBT+ charities and there are plans to grow it in 2024. The 
reopening of The Halls in the same month has also seen visitors from across the country 
coming to the city. Figures from The Halls show that around 50,000 visitors came to the 
city in its opening season and whilst one-in-five had a Wolverhampton postcode, four-
out-of-five visited from the wider region and elsewhere. This contributes indirect 
economic benefit to the city centre and direct benefit to the Council.  

 
2.11 Clearly, the Council does not operate in isolation which is why it commissioned 

independent consultants IPW to carry out a review of the city’s events eco-system, city 
governance and the Council’s operational approach to event delivery with a brief to 
recommend how these could be improved to better benefit the local economy and benefit 
city’s reputation.  

 
2.12 The city has strong foundations to build on in boosting its visitor economy from great 

indoor venues (Grand Theatre, The Civic and Wulfrun Halls) and terrific outdoor spaces 
(West Park, Racecourse), to flexible leisure spaces (Aldersley and Molineux Stadium) 
and strong community venues (Bilston Town Hall, church halls etc), as well as urban 
spaces and green spaces, the University’s increasingly diverse provision (Screen School, 
Arena Theatre) and heritage venues like Wightwick Manor and Moseley Old Hall. 
 

2.13 Given the huge potential of the city and the Council’s ambitions to increase visitor 
numbers further to raise the profile and reputation of the city and deliver even greater 
economic and social value for local people and businesses, the Council’s Strategic 
Executive Board (SEB) requested a new, longer-term framework for events. 

 
2.14 To action this and to seek independent advice and validation of the city’s approach, the 

Council commissioned IPW in late summer 2022, to research and prepare a new five-
year Events Strategy for Wolverhampton. 

 

Page 16



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion: The way forward: developing a new business plan 
and investment in growth 
 

3.1 Consultants IPW were procured by the Council to research and prepare a new Events 
Strategy for Wolverhampton. The brief for this work recognised three principles: 
 

• The strategy is for the city, not CWC 

• ‘Our City - Our Plan’ outlines the city’s ambition to be an Event City  

• Develop an underlying business case and planning process for a five-year events 
strategy and plan. 

 
3.2 IPW’s recommendations for an ambitious five-year events strategy identify the need for 

investment to grow a vibrant city events programme and deliver the required socio-
economic benefits, this in turn needs to be underpinned by a robust business plan. 

 
3.3 They acknowledged that in developing an ‘Event City’ strategy, the city is starting from a 

position of strength and already has an events ecology with over 1,000 events taking 
place every year at different scales and locations, and with a range of different promoters 
– independent, community, private/commercial and the Council.  

 
3.4 The strategy recommended by IPW is set out at Appendix One but the key points for 

development and improvement are summarised below: 

• The city needs a clear vision, five-year plan and targets 

• The events strategy needs to be driven by three primary objectives: changing 

perceptions of the city; increasing direct and indirect economic benefit and increasing 

social benefit and value 

• The city operates in a competitive environment and needs to be clear about its offer 

to the public and promoters 

• City collaboration is essential – the city has some strong brands in this space and 

these need to be maximised e.g. AEG/ASM, Grand Theatre. WWFC 

• The city needs to invest in a formal Destination Management Partnership (DMP) to 

deliver effective, joined-up governance and strategic planning  

• The ambition by 2028 is to be a place that hosts events of national profile 

• Events need to be integrated into wider place-shaping plans on regeneration, 

economy, well-being and the environment 

• Opportunities to coordinate and support local skills, volunteers and artists need to be 

maximised – given the opportunities in the city with some fantastic employers – 

potentially through a new ‘Skills Academy’ 

• The programme needs to be driven by data and place informatics including visitor 

and market trends 

• The city centre environment is a priority in the first instance 

• The customer and promoter journey needs to be mapped and constantly kept under 

review to ensure it is competitive with other places 

• The council’s various teams that facilitate and support events need to have efficient 

processes and fantastic customer service to keep promoters in the city 

Page 17



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

• The events / tourism programme is a driver for private investment in food and 

beverage and hospitality / accommodation 

• Marketing activities need to be joined up and coordinated and include the city’s wider 

offer – this includes improving the city’s digital presence 

• A single box office and promoters gateway needs to be established 

• The three cities initiative has the potential to create further opportunities 

• Local businesses should be better engaged in local events support and delivery to 

maximise benefits 

• The programme needs to focus on retaining families in the city centre, keeping big 

national live sporting tournaments and growing this, supporting the cities diverse 

communities and maximising the ‘Wolverhampton Welcome’ 

• The programme would benefit from a ‘blocks and tentpole’ approach to grow it 

organically. 

• Stakeholders need to view the programme from the perspective of 2028 and what is 

an achievable vision (see Appendix Two) 

3.5 IPW`s business plan recommends ‘pump-priming’ investment at the front end of the 

events programme to allow key events to grow and to become self-sustainable. They 

have based their thinking on the following assumptions: 

• by Year 5/6 CWC’s net expenditure will be similar to Year 1 

• that a level of additional investment will be made available, primarily in years 2, 3 and 
4, to develop new initiatives and infrastructure 

• additional investment will be sought primarily from external sources already identified, 
and through increased income generation 

• increased staffing resource should be covered by self-generated income by Year 5/6 

• the private and community events / markets will be stimulated to produce events at 
neutral cost to CWC. 

 
4.0      Evaluation of alternative options 

 
4.1 Option one would be to make no changes to the existing approach and to continue to 

deliver the current programme which is primarily aimed at delivering community-level 
events within the city of local / regional significance and profile. This would result in a 
comparable level of footfall to previous years and would keep the profile, reputation and 
perceptions of the city at a similar level too. It would mean less direct and indirect 
economic benefit and fewer social value opportunities. It would certainly mean no 
investment in the infrastructure to build the wider strategic framework needed to create 
an ‘event city’. 
 

4.2 Option two would be to partially implement the recommendations of this report. This 
would result in slightly higher levels of footfall to previous years and would increase the 
profile, reputation and perceptions of the city at a similar level too. It would also mean 
increased direct and indirect economic benefit and fewer social value opportunities. 
Whilst it may mean some investment in growing some events and developing some new 
ones, it would also see no investment in the infrastructure to build the wider strategic 
framework needed to create an ‘event city’. 

 

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

4.3 Option three would be to implement the recommendations of this report which would see 
a step-change in the development of an events infrastructure and wider eco-system in 
the city. This would see significantly increased footfall over the five years of the strategy, 
greater direct and indirect economic benefit and more social value opportunities for local 
residents and businesses. It would also significantly improve the profile, reputation and 
perceptions of the city which, in turn, will help contribute to investment in the wider ‘visitor 
experience’ eco-system such as private sector funding for an enhanced food and 
beverage and hotel offer in the city.  

 
5.0 Reasons for decision(s)  

 
5.1 Option three is recommended for the reasons set out at 4.3 above. 
 
6.0 Financial implications 

 
6.1 The 2023-2024 net budget for City Events is £763,500.  
 
6.2 Recommendations of the report require additional short-to-medium term investment to be 

implemented to grow the programme to the point that a significant part of it becomes 
either self-funding or net costs reduce significantly. This would either be achieved 
through commercial income or from securing external grant funding to deliver activity 
such as the Commonwealth Games Legacy Funding or UK Shared Prosperity Funding. 
 

6.2 The five-year investment strategy also requires growth in staffing from 2024-2025 to grow 
the programme to deliver a nationally significant profile and reputation and this will be 
identified as part of budget setting alongside the medium-term financial strategy (MTFS). 
 

6.3 Following on from the additional investment point made above at 3.5, it is proposed that - 
due to a number of factors including: a) the opportunity presented in the 2024-2025 
financial year through the Commonwealth Games Major events fund and the key city 
priority to expedite the transformation of the city centre and night-time economy – that the 
additional funding is allocated in the 2024-2025 financial year. This would be split and 
allocated as following, based on the IPW recommendations: Major events delivery 
support would be allocated £274,000 for staff resources to develop and expand the 
current events programme significantly and deliver major events of regional and national 
significance; £125,000 would be allocated to staff resources to develop a city-wide 
destination / tourism plan and governance structures to coordinate, with key city partners, 
the wider ‘eco-system’ of city events and support night-time economy development work.  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

7.0 Legal implications 
 
7.1 In growing an events programme, the Council will continue to need to be cognisant of 

legal requirements around safety, health, licensing and other regulatory considerations 
essential to event organisation. 
 

7.2 The Council, when directly commissioning events, will need to secure artists, performers 
and acts. These will require robust contracts which protect the Council’s position and 
minimise risk.  
 

7.3 Legal services will provide advice or assist with legal agreements as and when requested 
in relation to any proposals and/or events which the Council proposes to meet the 
strategic aims. 
[RR/27072023/W] 

 
8.0 Equalities implications 

 
8.1 As this report highlights, a vibrant city events programme has the potential to showcase 

the strengths of a place. One of the City of Wolverhampton`s undoubted strengths is its 
diversity, inclusivity and tolerance. This is encapsulated in Our City: Our Plan which has 
the theme of ‘inclusivity and fairness’ as a golden thread. 
 

8.2 The Council already organises or supports a range of events which celebrates the city’s 
diversity and diverse communities including Wolverhampton Pride, Diwali, Eid and 
others.  The Council works closely with the community to develop, build and sustain 
these key events.   This strategy can build upon this and increase the number of events 
that are delivered. 
 

8.3 There are also opportunities through recruitment to ensure that the team reflects this 
ambition. Events which celebrate culture and diversity help communities that here to 
otherwise may have felt marginalised, feel more connected. They also educate and 
inform, building bridges between communities and stronger community 
cohesion.  Communities are, and continue to be, a key part in how we engage, listen and 
constantly improve events so that they are reflective of feedback and support local aims 
and priorities.    

9.0 All other implications 
 

9.1 There are no other direct implications arising from the recommendations of this report.  

 
10.0 Schedule of background papers 
 
10.1 Report to City Economy Scrutiny Panel, 28 September 2022 (Public Pack)Inward 

Investment, Visitor Experience, Culture and Leisure Offer Agenda Supplement for 
Economy and Growth Scrutiny Panel, 28/09/2022 18:00 (moderngov.co.uk) 

 
10.2  Report to Scrutiny Board, 1 November 2022 Microsoft PowerPoint - Visitor Experience 

Strategy Plan and Budget Presentation.pptx (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

Page 20

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b63260/Inward%20Investment%20Visitor%20Experience%20Culture%20and%20Leisure%20Offer%2028th-Sep-2022%2018.00%20Economy%20and%20G.pdf?T=9
https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b63260/Inward%20Investment%20Visitor%20Experience%20Culture%20and%20Leisure%20Offer%2028th-Sep-2022%2018.00%20Economy%20and%20G.pdf?T=9
https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b63260/Inward%20Investment%20Visitor%20Experience%20Culture%20and%20Leisure%20Offer%2028th-Sep-2022%2018.00%20Economy%20and%20G.pdf?T=9
https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s223633/Visitor%20Experience%20Strategy%20Plan%20and%20Budget%20Presentation.pdf
https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s223633/Visitor%20Experience%20Strategy%20Plan%20and%20Budget%20Presentation.pdf


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

11.0 Appendices 

11.1 Appendix 1 – IPW Review Report. 

11.2 Appendix 2 -  IPW aspirational look back on achievements from 2028 perspective 
   

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 

Appendix One: IPW Review Report 
 
In consultation with stakeholders, and through extensive desk research, IPW identified that the 
city already enjoyed a diverse event ecology, perhaps more so than many had anticipated – or 
that many first-time visitors to the city might expect. They found that Wolverhampton is a city 
with understated pride and an unvarnished authenticity. The draft strategy embraces these 
qualities and seeks to reflect them in its various recommendations.  

 
It is also cognisant of other local strategies such as the draft Cultural Compact Strategy, Vision 
and Plan of Action which outlines a series of principles focussed on harnessing the 
‘transformative power of arts, culture and the creative industries’ to address ‘challenges faced 
around economic growth and social value’.  
 
IPW’s work aligns often disparate thinking to date and builds on outline objectives and 
principles, by consolidating a practical way forward in the short-term. 
 
Events are a core part of the visitor economy and any strategy to develop them should 
complement, and be a keystone of, existing tourism strategies. They can be an effective means 
of reinforcing the city’s brand and can completely transform a city’s image – Glasgow’s year as 
European City of Culture in 1990 transformed perceptions of the city and raised its profile 
internationally. More recently, and closer to home, Coventry’s period as UK City of Culture 2021 
was a game-changer in terms of the city’s national profile. 
 
There is a significant economic impact from events, both direct and indirect, however, they have 
a broader social impact at community as well as city-scale – they can reinforce wellbeing, 
encourage participation through volunteering, and be micro-economic drivers.  
 
There are three primary objectives of the Strategy, namely to: 
 

• Change perceptions of the city - by enhancing its profile and reputation nationally 
and internationally 

• Increase the social benefit and value from events - by creating opportunities for 
employment and skills development  

• Increase the economic benefit and return from events - by generating significant 
new direct and indirect spend. 
 

Driving footfall 
 
Driving footfall is the key objective of events – whether for social or economic objectives. 
However, significant competition exists in the market to attract audiences, whether visitors or 
locals, as well as a lot of choice for promoters as to where they host events. A pivotal question 
for both is – Why Wolverhampton? – why would they choose to promote my event there: is 
there an audience, what do they like, what are the practical implications, is there an incentive? 
And for the audience: is this something I really want to see, will it be a good experience, will I be 
safe, is it value for money – as well as all the practical implications of travel, accommodation, 
food… essentially, is it somewhere I want to spend my time and my money? This can be 
summarised as: 

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

• What will persuade a) public, and b) promoters? 
• What’s the incentive? 
• What’s the infrastructure? 
 

In developing a five-year events strategy, the challenge is to match the aspiration to the 
infrastructure – building on where the city is now and where it wants to be in 5 (and 10) years-
time. The diagram (Figure 1: Level of Impact and Profile) below illustrates this: 

 

 
Fig. 1 Level of Impact and Profile 

 
 
 

 
Growing our events ecology 
 
There are four principal areas that a healthy events ecology requires – People, Venues, 
Resources and Infrastructure (see Figure 2: The ‘Events Mix’) – and when you break each of 
these areas down, you have a complex system that requires nurturing and oversight. 

 
 

Page 23



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
 

Fig. 2 The ‘Events Mix’ 
 

The ecology needs to be delivered by a range of partners – public, commercial and voluntary – 
working to joint objectives. But it requires the strategic direction and monitoring to be 
undertaken centrally.  
 
A brief SWOT of these four principal areas reveals areas for development e.g., creating an 
environment that encourages creative entrepreneurs, and improved overnight accommodation: 
as well as particular strengths, such as the public transport nexus and public sector support. A 
more detailed SWOT analysis will be developed in conjunction with partners as part of the work 
to establish a destination management partnership and plan. 
 
Different events need different types of support and infrastructure and, therefore, different 
partners to help deliver. CWC is a vitally important partner, but its role varies in each 
circumstance from facilitator to direct provider to partner to investor. This strategy identifies four 
broad categories of event: 
 

• Commercial - an event for which a rental is paid, or for which box office/earned income 
is a significant driver  

• Corporate - business or private events that range from conferences and seminars to 
launch parties  

• Community - more localised events engaging specific groups or locales, not seeking 
to be commercial 

• Civic - key events in the city's calendar (often annual) that celebrate an important 
aspect of the city's communities. 
 

As can be seen, the range of events – their scale and type and purpose – is diverse – and 
finding a common purpose to inform them in an overarching strategy can be challenging. 

 
The three objectives outlined earlier – increasing profile, social and economic benefits – provide 
a broad but clear framework, however, it is a vision that requires to be shared and supported. 

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
Practical aspects of oversight and governance, market intelligence, and encouraging investment 
are constants – but these are most effective when done collaboratively. CWC has a pivotal role 
in determining the strategic direction, but its delivery requires buy-in from a broad coalition of 
partners in the public, private, third and academic sectors, addressing key questions:  
 

• is the vision shared? 
• is there an appropriate performance framework for city events based on shared desired 

outcomes and outcome measures?  
• are internal-CWC and city-wide governance structures needed to coordinate and 

develop city events? 
• can the new strategy be underpinned by market intelligence and a customer-focused 

approach? 
• can the city facilitate and support private investment in high quality events that fit the 

city’s key themes? 
• what’s the balance between accessible public events that increase social value and 

commercial events which generate income for reinvestment in the programme? 
 

Wider social and economic environment 
 
Underpinning this approach is a Theory of Change (see Figure 3: The Broader Social and 
Economic Environment below) that considers the broader environment of economic and social 
impact in Wolverhampton i.e., why investment in events is important. Events are looking to 
attract new audiences and visitors to the city, but also to engage disconnected individuals and 
communities. Partly this can be done through attendance at events, but the latter is often 
through direct involvement in the creation of a more localised event, often at very modest 
scales. 

 
Enhancing creative activities through events can lead to more confident and resilient 
communities, more empowered citizens, and ultimately a more resilient city environment, 
physically and psychologically. 

Page 25



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 

 
Fig. 3 The Broader Social and Economic Environment’ 

 
Events are only part of the answer. They are most effective when they are part of an integrated 
approach to city regeneration, development or enhancement. They link well with strategies to 
improve the city economy, wellbeing, and the environment. They thrive on excellent transport 
infrastructure, effective city marketing, and a welcoming and attractive public realm. 

 
They have complete synergy with the local food and beverage (F&B) and accommodation offer. 
They can help drive improvements in this area – as seen recently with the arrival of the V&A in 
Dundee and the consequent improvement and increase in local F&B/accommodation support 
infrastructure. 
 
Ultimately, it is about setting a sense of place – reinforcing it for locals, introducing it to visitors – 
and being confident in the delivery. There is much for Wulfrunians to be proud of historically and 
in contemporary Wolverhampton – and much of it is in the character of the people who live 
there. Grounded, with a good sense of life’s priorities. These are pride-worthy values – they are 
also worth sharing – and reflecting in the programme of events (and their marketing). 

 
Although CWC is not the only events provider in the city, it is a principal partner and driver, and 
it’s useful to consider to what extent it may be involved in various initiatives. CWC has two main 
functions: as a facilitator – making things happen; and as a direct funder and/or promoter. 

 
  

Page 26



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

Setting targets to measure future success  
 
Visualising the future – setting targets for where the city wants to be – is an essential part of the 
Strategy. To this end, IPW…took the approach of developing a narrative from the perspective of 
2028, looking back at the previous 5 years. This can be found at Appendix two and is intended 
to illustrate how to achieve the objectives rather than be definitive about particular events.  
 
The starting point is having a clear vision: 
 

“By 2028, we want people to think differently about the city... as a place where things 
happen, as a place they might visit, maybe as a place they might look to relocate.”  
 

Appendix one provides an illustration of what can be brought to reality within the next five years. 
The type and range of events build on those that are happening, or have happened, or have 
been discussed and planned with potential partners. 

 
It recognises that Wolverhampton is not starting from scratch – it is already an Events City. IPW 
found in their research some 1,000 events in the city a year including 30,000 visitors a fortnight 
to the football, 300,000 a year visiting the Grand Theatre and an estimated 300,000 a year set 
to visit The Halls. There is an infrastructure of spaces, people and funding that exists, but can 
be made to work a bit harder with some strategic focus and a bit of pump-priming in its early 
stages.  
 
As importantly, there is a will to do this, and a recognition that for positive change to take place, 
the status quo is not an option. The city has ambition to develop in many service and 
geographic areas, and events will play a part in making this happen. 

 
There’s no need to reinvent the wheel. The next 5 years will be a challenging period because of 
external macro-economic and social issues – but that will always be the case, whenever the 
strategy is implemented. The city needs to adopt a ‘strengths-based’ approach, focusing on the 
assets the city already has and start with them.  
 
There is hard and soft infrastructure already in place – for the latter, the city’s events team has a 
wealth of experience, knowledge and goodwill. For the former, Wolverhampton has terrific 
transport strengths – it’s easy to get to and to leave – an important consideration for external 
visitors.  

 
It also has a unique demography, and that should be reflected to a greater extent in the annual 
events programme – reminding people (in the city as well as outside) what a vibrant range of 
cultures the City of Wolverhampton has. 
 
Similarly, talking with the city’s current stakeholders (actual and potential) in the events ecology 
revealed a range of opportunities for new events, co-curation, and networking. Some of these 
are indicated overleaf, and others are included in the earlier ‘2028 visioning’. 
 
The presence of AEG/ASM in the city is a great opportunity to work with an events operator of 
international scale not only in The Halls, but potentially across the city. Leveraging their 
experience and connections will make a significant difference to the larger-scale event offer and 
infrastructure in the city. 

Page 27



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
ASM’s range of contacts will allow them to develop the corporate market over the next 5 years – 
initially this should have a focus at the Halls, but with the intention to increasingly roll out across 
the city in the subsequent 5 years. 

 
The city should work towards data-driven decision-making – know your audience: find out why 
they’ve come as well as where they’re from. Keep in touch with them – push information to 
them, pull useful data from them. There are commercial digital partners that can help with this 
that, allied with the city’s city centre 5G rollout, can make this a reality within 5 years. 

 
The events sector is an industry and there are skilled and unskilled jobs in that market – 
administrative, marketing, technical, driving, performance, management. The city’s public and 
academic partners need to work with its events and cultural providers to develop a clear ladder 
of opportunity for young people and those returning to the jobs market. This is an area with 
particular appeal for a younger demographic and can help address some of the city’s broader 
employment challenges in this area.  In summary, make the most of: 
 

• AEG partnership 
• ASM Corporate Development 
• Place Informatics – audience data 
• Digital: ‘Welcome App’ and Visit Wolverhampton platform  
• Skills Development – ladder of opportunity 
• 3 cities partnership 

 
Some opportunities are specifically event related (highlighted in the 2028 visioning). While the 
focus is often on the larger ‘tentpole’ attractions, the majority of the city’s events will be on a 
smaller scale at community level. This is an ideal scale to demonstrate Wolverhampton’s 
diversity. 

 
Some events already exist – others will need to be encouraged and supported through 
proactive schemes that attract new promoters. Targeted funding incentives can build the city’s 
reputation in specific areas such as live music and a potential ‘Bands in Bars’ concept scheme. 
 
Consumer markets with different specialisms – clothes, food and drink – are affordable ways of 
creating city-wide events that are light on permanent infrastructure and respond well and quickly 
to local demand. However, the council will need to ensure a seamless   approach across 
commissioning directorates to improve quantity, consistency and market development.  

 
Delivering wider economic benefit 
 
A key challenge is to retain the economic benefit of events in the city. As the diagram below 
(Figure 4: Retaining Economic Benefit) shows, the principal indirect economic impact comes in 
two areas – overnight accommodation and food and beverage (F&B). There is direct spend on 
ticket sales and merchandise at the event itself, which is of interest to the promoter to ensure its 
sustainability, but beyond that the aim should be to keep the events indirect spend in the city.  

 
 

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
   Fig. 4 Retaining Economic Benefit 
 
Birmingham's accommodation and F&B offers will always be an attraction for some, but 
proximity to the event is a key deciding factor for audiences looking for somewhere to stay or 
eat. As the event programme develops, so does the opportunity for providers in this area.  

 
Hotels and restaurants will begin to cluster in the city as the events footfall increases, but this 
may need to be incentivised in the early stages. 
 
The impact of events at local level goes beyond the economic. A programme of micro-grants 
targeted at initiating small scale events in local communities is a cost-effective way of stimulating 
volunteering, as well as celebrating local diversity. This can be seen from the tremendous success 
of the Kings Coronation Celebration Grant which supported 140 local community-building events 
over the 6th – 8th May 2023.  

 
Broadening the base of local events activity in the ecology helps develop the overall supply chain, 
as well as creating an early rung in the ladder of opportunity for young people looking to establish 
themselves in the sector. 

 
Building on the city’s distinctiveness 
 
One of the beneficial consequences of this approach is to enhance the distinctively 
Wolverhampton nature of the city’s events offer. Events are indivisible from tourism, and a crucial 
part of the strategy is to re-focus the messaging to the visitor about the city. This needs to be fully 
integrated with the overall city messaging and consistency of message is key.  

 
There are several audiences this needs to be pointed at, and while the overarching message 
must be uniform, the detail of the city’s offer will require more nuanced marketing to promoters, 
to locals, to regional visitors, and to those from the rest of the UK/international. 

 
For example, local parents with young children may be persuaded by safety messaging, visitors 
by ease of access, and promoters by audience reach and diversity. So, messaging/marketing the 
city must address the key questions: 

• Wolverhampton Welcome – what is the unique selling proposition (USP)? 
• Authentic, grounded community 
• Easy city to navigate, safe, helpful 

Page 29



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

• We want to help you make events happen (promoters) 
• Wolverhampton? You’re welcome (public) 

 
Essential infrastructure: setting up a destination management partnership 
 
The messaging needs to be delivered and authentic, and to that end, and in line with the recent 
national De Bois Review of Destination Management recommendations which have been 
endorsed by Government, a local Destination Management Partnership (DMP) that is strongly 
events-focussed – e.g. Visit Wolverhampton – is a very important means to achieve this and 
needs to be strongly considered. 

 
This body can be relatively small (perhaps with seconded staff from CWC and others), but it 
brings the key partners together and can be tasked with coordination and delivery of the events 
strategy, wider city visitor experience as well as ensuring consistency of messaging. For some it 
will function as a DMP, others as a Convention Bureau, and for others as a Promoters Gateway. 
Simply, it is an advocacy and enabling tool for the city with clear function and structure, 
including: 

• Quasi-independent governance 
• Conduit for private sector engagement 
• Maximise/collate local assets 
• Coordination and monitoring 

 
The DMP has the potential to be the strategic forum to progress key policy issues such as the 
eco-systems for visitor experience in the city centre and urban centres, night-time economy 
vibrancy and audience/market development. Building on the above, the events programme 
should also proactively look at how events can help address the perceived challenges in the 
city, such as: 

• Perceptions of the city 
• City centre environment 
• Current DMP offer online 
• No joined-up events supply line 
• Centre vs wider city 
• Transport in the city 

 
Some of these will create opportunities to subvert existing perceptions (as outlined in the 2028 
visioning) – and look at how existing civic assets can be used imaginatively. For example, using 
the city’s pop art collection to help shape the design and theming of a new hotel in the city 
centre. 

 
The Box Space initiative is already looking at ways that an underutilised urban environment can 
be transformed through programming of events and a curated pop-up food and beverage offer. 
 
Improving the visitor experience 
 
The over-riding aim of the events supply chain must be user-focused to improve the visitor 
experience – from the ways in which customers find out about the event to maintaining contact 
with them afterwards to see how they enjoyed it and push future information to them.  
 

Page 30

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1011664/2585-C_The_de_Bois_Review_ACCESSIBLE__for_publication_.pdf


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

Events cultivate friends of the city – people are coming to enjoy themselves and the city has to 
deliver: the event itself has to be good, but the rest of the visitor experience – the journey to and 
from, the food, the built environment – essentially, the Wolverhampton Welcome. Making it 
easier for visitors to know about and get to events is vital. Figure 5 below shows how the total 
visitor experience journey fits together.  

 
Fig.5 Visitor Journey 

 
 
The same has to happen for events promoters – they need to know they will be welcomed and 
supported and encouraged to deliver events in the city. As the diagram below illustrates, (Figure 
6: the Promoters Journey) this requires a quite different (and equally complex) supply chain, with 
a range of public sector providers required at various points – various CWC services, police, 
volunteers.  

Page 31



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 

 
Fig.6 Promoters Journey 

 
Critical to the success of this is the coordinating role that CWC can play with its own internal 
services – licensing, roads, events – to make the experience as joined up and easy for the 
potential promoter, whether they are a local community group or a national organisation. This 
coordinating role is another that Visit Wolverhampton would be well placed to deliver if it were 
located within CWC.  The key thing is to make it easy for the promoters for events to happen.  

 
The metrics for success are twofold – there are the outcomes that are sought during and after 
the event, for instance: increased footfall, greater economic impact and per capita spend yield, 
more people volunteering to deliver, and such like. There are also the metrics by which to 
assess at the planning stage whether to support or deliver an event. At its simplest, these are: 
the Profile it will deliver (does it reinforce the city brand and objectives), the Reward/Impact it 
will have (direct in terms of event sustainability, and indirect via additional spend locally), and 
consequent level of Risk. 

 
The illustration below considers these from a CWC perspective in terms of a large event 
delivered by (Figure 7: Assessing benefit/impact of large-scale events) a third party (A), by 
CWC (B), and an event such as the recent British Art Show (C). 
 

Page 32



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
   Fig.7  Assessing benefit/impact of large-scale events 
 
 
It’s important not to underestimate the impact an effective events programme can have, often 
quite disproportionate to the level of public sector investment. And well delivered public events 
bestow a view of good civic management and competence by CWC more generally. But it’s 
equally important to be realistic about the contribution of events. Events will not change the city 
centre economy, but they will make an important contribution to that change. They won’t single-
handedly transform the perception of the city, but they have a major role to play in helping make 
that a reality.  

 
Events can help contribute to many areas of civic policy, but the strategy requires specific 
targets, and the following are collated from the narrative above (not in order of importance) and 
grouped in 5 key areas for development. These are further broken down into targets 
underneath: 
 

 
 

Profile / Marketing  
1. Increased awareness of the city nationally 
2. Coordinated marketing of transport options 

Programme

Profile

Infrastructure

Skills

Partnership

Page 33



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

3. Coordinated marketing of wider hospitality, food and beverage offer. 
 

Infrastructure Investment 
4. New visitor infrastructure – hotels 
5. Successful delivery of new assets eg Box Space initiative 
6. Single box office and information point of entry for visitors 
7. Promoters gateway – single point of entry 
8. Data collation on visitor/market trends 
9. Increased economic impact 

 
Skills Development 
10. Increased volunteer support for events 
11. More opportunities to showcase local artists 
12. Increased jobs  
13. New vocational course in events operation and management 

 
Partnership Collaboration 
14. Local businesses engaged in event support and delivery 
15. Three Cities Event concordat 
16. Creation of Destination Management Partnership / Convention Bureau (e.g. Visit 

Wolverhampton) 
 

Programme 
17. Families retained in the town centre 
18. Greater presence of televised live sport from the city 
19. Fixed schedule of national sporting events 
20. Support for increased diversity celebrations 

 
Oversight of the events calendar is another key role of the Destination Management Partnership 
(DMP) / Visit Wolverhampton, which can take a strategic approach to the annual planning 
calendar. The diagram below (Fig.8: Illustrative Events Calendar: Blocks and Tentpoles) 
illustrates taking a blocks and tentpoles approach. It is recommended that the Council look at 
themed periods – a designated week, fortnight or month that a range of promoters of all scales 
can generate work under that banner across the city. Within that, there needs to be tentpole 
events – high-profile one-offs that draw attention to the city. Focusing on more self-generated 
content should be an integrated element of every annual programme – ensuring that 
Wulfrunians see themselves, their activities and their communities reflected in their city. 

Page 34



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
   

Fig.8 Illustrative Events Calendar: Blocks and Tentpoles 
 

 
 

Page 35



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
 Number of Events 
A proportionate annual increase in the number of events is proposed, particularly from years 2 to 4, as illustrated in the table 
(Table 1: Summary of Years 1-5 Number of Events) below: 
 
  

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Funded Current Events 12 12 12 12 12 12

Total Commercial Events 8 13 16 29 29

Total Corporate Events 2 4 6 7 7

 

Total Community Events 9 14 17 17 17

Total Civic Events 3 5 5 5 5

TOTAL BUDGET 12 34 48 56 70 70

 

Indicative Attendances Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Current Events ? ? ? ? ? ?

Total Commercial Events 56,000 97,000 112,000 209,000 209,000

Total Corporate Events 2,000 4,000 6,000 7,000 7,000

 

Total Community Events 22,500 35,000 42,500 42,500 42,500

Total Civic Events 3,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

TOTAL BUDGET 0 83,500 141,000 165,500 263,500 263,500

P
age 36



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Economic Impact 
 
The Economic Impact (EI) is based on a per capita amount calculated differently for each of the 4 event categories i.e. a Commercial 
event visitor has a greater impact than one attending a community event. The additional annual EI is indicated in the table (Table 
2: Summary of Years 1-5 Projected Economic Impact below: 
 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

£ £ £ £ £

Total Commercial Events 1,848,000 3,201,000 3,696,000 6,897,000

Total Corporate  Events 90,000 180,000 270,000 315,000

 

Total Community  Events 180,000 270,000 300,000 300,000

Total Civic  Events 45,000 75,000 75,000 75,000

TOTAL 0 2,163,000 3,726,000 4,341,000 7,587,000

 
 
 
 

Table 2  Indicative Summary of Years 1-5 Projected Economic Impact 
 
 

P
age 37



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

Action Plan 
 
In terms of operational delivery, based on the specific targets, outlined earlier, there are several 
operational areas outlined above – Profile; Infrastructure; Skills; and Partnership - that will require 
planning and implementation – a timeline for these is suggested in the table (Fig.9: Operational 
Action Plan summary) below: 
 

 
 
Fig.9 Operational Action Plan summary 

 
 
The priorities are suggested by the scheduling above, but the key one is the creation of a wider 
city ‘vehicle’ i.e a Destination Management Partnership (DMP) like Visit Wolverhampton, to take 
forward and coordinate the other initiatives. The Council may need external support to develop 
this, given current resource levels.         
 
The exact nature of this body should be explored further, however, it should have both a catalytic 
role i.e. bring partners together to help develop and deliver some initiatives, such as the 
development of the Events Academy vocational course; and a coordinating role, for example, 
ensuring the development of a brand with associated online presence is invested in by all key 
partners.  
 
Such a body should also have oversight of development of the annual events programme, not 
necessarily as a direct provider, but by ensuring there is the broad geographic and thematic range 
of events across the calendar, as explored earlier. 

Page 38



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

The DMP will also have a very important role locally in working with and influencing the work of 
the emerging Local Visitor Economy Partnership (LVEP) being developed at a regional West 
Midlands footprint level by the West Midlands Growth Company (WMGC). Indeed, WMGC have 
a vital role to play in supporting the development and operation of the local DMP to ensure that 
the city benefits as much as possible from the regional and national opportunities that will 
potentially be filtered through the LVEP. 
 
The DMP will also create a collaborative public/private sector partnership environment which 
makes the city’s position and case stronger when applying for national funding streams. One of 
the key pieces of work of the DMP will be to develop a strategic pipeline of projects, with strong 
‘shovel-ready’, evidence-based business cases, so the city is prepared and agile when national 
funding rounds are announced – often at short notice. 
 
New events should be phased in over the 5-year period illustrated in the table (Fig.10: Programme 
Action Plan summary) below including both community and commercial: 
 
 
 

Event 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

       

Sounds in the City Festival       

Bands in Bars (support scheme)       

Wolverhampton Welcome Weekend       

Cycling Festival/Road Race/Trial       

British Kabaddi League / Final       

Kabaddi World Cup / Final and 
outreach / Festival 

      

Winter Festival of Light       

Football Development       

Comedy Festival       

       

 
 

Fig.10 Programme Action Plan summary 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

Appendix 2: IPW…aspirational look back on achievements from 2028 perspective 
 
Wolverhampton ‘Event City 2028’ 
 
By 2028… …people will think differently about the city… 
 
The annual Summer in the City festival1 in West Park has played a part in that since 2024 – 
showcasing the city’s offer as well as its pulling power to attract major musical talent. But also, 
people became more aware of what the city has to offer and the authentic, unpretentious way it 
goes about its business. 
 
The small city with the big heart 
 
Marketing has played its part in the turnaround of perceptions, there’s no doubt about it. A 
consistent and collaborative approach to both messaging and application of the city brand have 
played well to the national audience who’d never been, or previously thought of coming to 
Wolverhampton. And positioning the warmth of the population and their welcome as its 
biggest selling point really resonated with residents who were able to demonstrate the civic 
pride they’ve always felt in tangible ways, particularly through an upsurge in volunteering.  
 
The Wolverhampton Welcome Crew – a team of volunteers regularly come out to greet event-
goers with their distinctive black and gold livery and their advice on where to go, how to get there, 
and how to get the best out of the city, have become the city’s most distinctive feature, particularly 
on big event days and during the themed months. 
 
2028 will see the third Welcome Night – an event that has grown each year and is set to involve 
over 120 local businesses, cultural and community organisations. This open-door city-wide free 
event has started to attract visitors from nearby towns and cities as well as pulling in over 15,000 
local people for its 6-hour duration. The street-food festival that started alongside it in its second 
year will return, and organisers are currently looking for further dates during the year. 
 
The reopening of The Halls in 2023 was a major turning point. The music offer in the city got 
bigger and better overnight. The city was once again on the map for major touring bands. And for 
audiences. Wolverhampton Wanderers’ partnership with Warner Records – Wolves Records – 
reawakened the local music scene giving a platform to new local bands. CWC built on this with 
the Bands in Bars support scheme for local pubs that in its third year saw over 40 local bands 
playing 300 gigs annually across the city. 
 
The focus on retaining families in the town centre between 5 and 7pm at weekends began 
paying dividends when the focus moved to Queen Square. The Life’s a Beach project, part of 
Summer in the City month, has become a regular and loved part of the seasonal offer. While the 
Autumn circus skills fortnight is beginning to spread into neighbouring streets. Two new family-
friendly cafés have opened in the area, each of which has a small performance area that feature 
a variety of kids entertainers. 
 

 
1 A major annual music festival run by external partners 

Page 40



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

Sport of all sorts, indoor and outdoor, continues to provide the city’s pulse. The Grand Slam of 
Darts, has been retained in the city – despite fierce competition from other cities and towns - with 
enhancements to the Aldersley Stadium venue to improve the visitor experience. 
 
Wolverhampton was founded by a woman, Wulfruna, so it was appropriate when the FA, 
Molineux, and CWC signed an agreement in 2025 to host three England women’s football 
international matches annually in the city for 3 years. Women’s football’s coming home.  
 
In 2025, the city hosted the UK Road Race Championships agreeing a two-year deal. The annual 
GB time trials have reignited interest in cycling at community level and the second Wolves in the 
Saddle family day of cycling is scheduled for later this year.  
 
Wolverhampton Wolfpack continue to dominate the British Kabaddi League (BKL), formed in 
2022, and a city-wide league has been formed featuring 8 community teams from the Black 
Country. With the rapid rise of the sport in the UK, the Council agreed a 3-year deal with BKL 
which has seen the UK finals being held in Wolverhampton for two of the three years along, 
with the World Cup in 2025. A TV deal with the between BKL and BBC has been extended with 
international rights now sold to 18 broadcasters. The estimated TV reach is 145m annually which 
means that the profile of the city is growing globally through this continuing relationship with BKL. 
 
The opening of a 4-star Pop hotel in early 2028 was hailed by one national newspaper as, ‘yet 
more evidence that this is a city that’s prepared to confound your expectations – who knew 
that one of the UK’s greatest pop art collections was hidden in the Black Country?  
 
The Box Space has been a huge success for almost four years. The combination of flexible 
programming – from fanzone to family, from cutting edge to comfort food – has proved popular 
with a range of locals and visitors. And the visuals continue to be amazing – the commissioned 
projections, data-mapped onto the adjacent buildings – provide a free 20-minute show every day 
at sundown that still has people gathering to watch. That has led to more projection-mapping 
commissions being planned for other unexpected city centre sites.  
 
Visitors still remark on how easy it is to get to the city from elsewhere in the UK, and e-bike 
stations have improved how folk can get around the city centre. Ease of access has been one of 
the factors that’s seen a ten-fold increase in the number of national corporate events that 
take place in the city now. The Halls remain a destination of choice for conferences, but an 
increasing number of mid-scale seminars and gatherings are taking place at the University, and 
a bespoke small events programme – such as music nights and food festivals - that accompanies 
them is regularly highlighted by delegates as one of the reasons they would come back. 
 
The creation of Visit Wolverhampton in 2024 - a Destination Management Partnership 
(DMP) based on a formal partnership between city visitor economy anchor institutions – has made 
a huge difference in coordinating the various visitor offers in the city, as well as providing a focus 
of consistent messaging and marketing. Based in the CWC offices and led by a senior Council 
officer, the organisation is planning a further 5-year plan that will see the corporate market extend 
further into the city, using more venues and locations. 
 
One of the benefits of location next to the UK’s second city continues to be the opportunity to pick 
up elements of much larger events Wolverhampton would be unable to afford by itself. Hosting 
training camps, an educational and cultural programme linked to the 2028 Euros later this year is 

Page 41



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

one of those. The Three Cities Initiative continues to explore ways the city works together 
with Birmingham and Coventry to mutual benefit. 
 
Negotiations to create a single box-office digital entry point for visitors finally bore fruit in 
2027. This follows the 2025 major revamp of the city’s online marketing offer, which now makes 
it easy to navigate the complete events programme of the city at a glance. Smaller community 
event promoters are now beginning to use this portal to host and advertise their own events and 
they too are set to benefit from being part of the single box-office presence. 
 
Following several years of internal review and external partnership discussion, the ‘Promoters 
Gateway’ was launched in 2027, through Visit Wolverhampton. This enables external 
promoters to approach a single portal for guidance on how to establish an event in the 
city, including advice for community groups. Significantly, the service provides up to the minute 
data on current audiences including their origin, demographic breakdown, likely dwell time, and 
the areas of the city they prefer to visit. This data began to come online in 2024 following a 
partnership with the West midlands Growth Company (WMGC). 
 
The steady growth in events has begun to find its way to the job market where an estimated 
200FTE jobs are believed to have been created in recent years. Projections from independent 
economic impact analysis forecast this could grow by 10% year on year over the next decade. To 
meet this demand for jobs, which has been focussed primarily on young entrants to the job 
market, a new ‘Events Academy’ - vocational course in Applied Events Operation and 
Management- is in development and is due to take its first course entrants in 2029.  
 
 

Page 42



wolverhampton.gov.uk

National Brownfield Institute 
& Green Innovation Corridor

Presentation to Economy and 
Growth Scrutiny Panel

September 27th 2023

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 N
o: 5



• World-class research centre that 
provides the facility to develop 
modern methods of building through 
innovation and partnership with the 
construction industry.

• Focusing on the practical application 
of future brownfield regeneration and 
remediation through the work of 
research teams, leading policy 
development and commercial 
services.

National Brownfield Institute 

P
age 44



• Part of the ‘Green Innovation 
Corridor’ (GIC) – a key part of our 
economic strategy

• GIC a key catalytic project in 
‘levelling up’ our city

• Strategic partnership with the 
University of Wolverhampton

 

Why is it important?

P
age 45



NBI Location and Background
 

National Brownfield Institute (NBI) 

• Situated within the University of Wolverhampton (UoW) 
Springfield Campus; a £120 million project transforming a 
12-acre Grade II listed former brewery into an architecture 
and built environment super-campus which also 
accommodates:

• The West Midlands University Technical College 
(WMUTC) providing educational opportunities for 14-19  
year-olds with a focus on construction and the application 
of ICT in the built environment; 

• Elite Centre for Manufacturing Skills (ECMS) providing 
training, short  courses and apprenticeships in advanced 
manufacturing sectors of metal forming and casting

• University of Wolverhampton School of Architecture and  
Built Environment (SoABE)  increasing the number of 
highly trained professionals entering the construction     
industry and positioned to take up newly created IZ sector  
linked high value and high paid jobs 

• National Centre for Sustainable Construction
     promoting green and sustainable construction
     practices

P
age 46



wolverhampton.gov.uk

 NBI Status 
• The 2,200sqm, £18.5 million NBI facility officially opened on the UoW Springfield Campus in September 2022.  

• Funded in part by £14.9m from Government Getting Building Fund, part of the Levelling Up programme in 
partnership with Black Country LEP and WMCA.

• Council indirect role in supporting the above funding applications to realise the strategic pipeline project. 

• NBI works to develop modern methods of building through innovation and partnership with the construction 
industry focusing on brownfield regeneration and remediation.

• NBI functions as a hub that provides the facility to develop advanced skills, technologies and methodologies 
through innovation and partnership with the construction industry. With expertise in the latest thinking in 
brownfield remediation it functions as a centre for excellence leading policy development, research and 
innovation, and commercial services for brownfield regeneration and remediation, contributing to securing the 
Wolverhampton’s position as a leader in sustainable construction and brownfield development.

• This is important to be able to deliver a wide-ranging package of local projects to be undertaken across the WM 
region on brownfield land at accelerated pace as these sites that have previously been perceived as too 
expensive and complicated to warrant redevelopment by mainstream developers / investors. 

• Innovation in this area will make a positive impact on People and Place, delivering new skills, jobs, and 
opportunities for local people in the city and the region.

P
age 47



• Connecting Springfield through to 
the Science Park, and beyond to 
i54.

• One of the three sites in the West 
Midlands Investment Zone 
proposition to Government (with 
Birmingham Innovation Park and 
Coventry’s Gigfactory).

• Focussed on advanced 
manufacturing.

 

Green Innovation Corridor 

P
age 48



Green Innovation Corridor / Investment Zone
- By April 2024 Government plan to establish twelve priority economic sector focused IZ’s 

countrywide (co-developed with Local Authorities and Universities)

- Each IZ will benefit from £80m (tax incentives and grant) over 5 years plus Business 
Rates Retention (which support sector).  

- West Midlands IZ is being co-developed with DLUHC, WMCA and Local Authority and 
Universities input advancing  3 sites which contribute to advanced manufacturing / green 
industries priority economic sector based on the HUB (tax site 250ha Coventry giga park) 
and SPOKES (non tax sites Birmingham Innovation Quarter and Wolverhampton GIC) 
model.

- Wolverhampton’s IZ proposition for tax incentives and flexible capital and revenue spend  
includes GIC sites adjacent to the National Brownfield Institute at Springfield Campus 
and the University of Wolverhampton Science Park that help realise the below 
aspirations.

 

-

wolverhampton.gov.uk

PRO TECT

P
age 49



Green Innovation Corridor links 
 •  There are plans for new commercial innovation floorspace to be created on cleared land (3 acres) at 
Springfield Campus as part of the Green Innovation Corridor (GIC) Programme that is based on the 
concept of developing the assets to optimise commercial opportunities stemming from the National 
Brownfield Institute.  GIC will provide opportunities for business growth and start-ups in response to demand 
for workshops, laboratories, offices and new commercial space around the epicentre of the National Centre for 
Sustainable Construction.

P
age 50



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Former Heath Town 
Baths 
Presentation to Economy and 
Growth Scrutiny Panel

September 27th 2023

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 N
o: 6



Background
 The Building:
• Originally opened in 1932/33

• Grade II Listed
• The building housed a main pool, a children’s pool, slipper baths and a wash 

house with drying facilities which served the wider community

• It is situated in old Heath Town, close to Almshouses, Holy Trinity Church
    with its Lych Gate and the War memorial in Heath Town Park which are
    also statutorily listed therefore rich in heritage value and local history
• Closed fully in 2006

• Derelict and subject to ASB including deliberate fires
• Security deterrents currently in place including CCTV Solar Tower, Anti 

burglar spinners and increased security patrols.

P
age 52



wolverhampton.gov.uk

 Developer Appointment 
• A procurement exercise was undertaken to select a commercial advisor and Avison Young (then GVA) were 

appointed to undertake a Strategic Marketing Review and following which a formal two stage marketing 
campaign was undertaken with a view to finding a special purchaser  (as due to complexities and high costs 
this regeneration opportunity is not commercially attractive to mainstream investors) in light of all other avenues 
to find a viable scheme failing previously.

• Five proposals for the site were received following expressions of interest stage and two of the developers 
were invited to submit their final proposals for best and final bids.

• Following a detailed appraisal of the two short listed bids, Avison Young produced a recommendation report to 
satisfy s123 (Local Government Act) requirements, to accompany the Cabinet report which identified Gaddu 
Associates as the preferred bidder.  Gaddu Associates have a track record of bringing buildings back into use.

• Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 10 January 2017 approved Gaddu Associates as the Council’s preferred 
developer and approval to enter into an Agreement for Lease, delegating authority to approve final heads of 
terms for a 125 year lease with an option to purchase the freehold within five years of practical completion

• Gaddu worked diligently on their scheme with advanced talks held with National Lottery Heritage officers

• Covid 19 caused the suspension of all grant programmes for almost two years

P
age 53



wolverhampton.gov.uk

The Proposal and Key Benefits 
• The scheme proposes the restoration of the building to provide a range of 

beneficial uses including a banqueting hall, day nursery, training and 
conference rooms, business start up space and multi-purpose community 
function rooms

• The proposals have been developed in consultation with Historic 
England, the National Lottery Heritage Fund and the local community.

• The involvement of the local communities (particularly through the 
Heathfield Park Community Action Network) has been a key feature in 
developing these proposals and the uses are consistent with the 
Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan.

• An agreed Skills and Employment Plan which has been worked up with 
the Council’s Wolves at Work team. A procurement strategy which seeks 
to use local contractors and suppliers wherever possible.

P
age 54



wolverhampton.gov.uk

  Developer Activity
• Gaddu Associates have actively engaged with the Project Task and Finish Group 

that was established in Summer 2022 where key Council Planning, Conservation, 
Highways, Facilities Management, Communications and City Development officers 
met regularly with Gaddu Associates to support and progress the project to 
planning application stage regaining the momentum that had been lost during the 
pandemic.

• Gaddu Associates presented at the Heath Park Community Fair to engage with the 
community on their proposals. Heath Town ward Councilors and the Mayor were in 
attendance.

• There was an overwhelmingly positive response to the proposals which are 
detailed in the Community Consultation Statement.

• Wolverhampton North-East Member of Parliament has received regular 
correspondence and project updates.

• Following pre application planning advice, extensive public / community 
consultation and formal submission of the planning application and listed building 
application the Task and Finish Group ended in October 2022.

P
age 55



wolverhampton.gov.uk

The Planning Application 
Document Summary of contents Included in 

planning 
application

Planning and 
Access Statement

Provides a brief history of the site and sets out a 
planning context for the proposed redevelopment

Heritage 
Statement

Provides an analysis of the building’s key heritage 
features and identifies those which are of the most 
significance

Transport 
Statement

Uses data from other similar schemes to predict traffic 
flows and assesses the impacts at peak times on the 
existing network. Also discusses the amount and 
arrangement of car and coach parking provided.

Noise Impact 
Assessment

Models the likely noise impacts from the development 
and makes recommendations for mitigation where 
necessary

Pre-application 
Community 
Consultation report

Describes the ways in which Gaddu Associates has 
proactively worked with local communities to ensure 
that the refurbished building meets their needs

• Planning (22/01088/FUL) and listed 
building consent  (22/01089/LBC) was 
considered and approved at Planning 
Committee on 17 January 2023.

• The grant of a long lease was 
conditional upon planning consent,  
listed buildings consent and Buyers 
Scheme of Works.

• Funding for the project through the 
National Lotteries Heritage Fund was 
also dependent on the above consents.

• Legal work is in process to enable the 
lease to be entered into with Gaddu 
Associates in order to implement the 
scheme.

P
age 56



Lease Heads of Terms Summary
• The AfL, which was signed on 28th June 2017,  contained conditions which have been fully satisfied with the 

grant of an implementable planning permission and Listed Buildings consent for the proposals in January 2023 .

• Gaddu Associates and the Council aim to enter into a long lease for 125 year term by Autumn 2023.   

• Upon execution of this lease responsibility for the site shifts from the Council to Gaddu Associates.

• The premium is £1 with rent at peppercorn -  Avison Young have provided updated advice May 2023 to 
confirmed this represents Market Rent and satisfies the Council’s s123 Local Government Act best value 
considerations 

• The lease cannot be fully assigned but sub-leases are allowed following the written consent of the Council

• The lease has a long stop and ultimate long stop date (5 years and 7 years respectively) which will trigger a 
forfeiture clause should satisfactory progress not be made within the prescribed timescales and practical 
completion not achieved by the ultimate long stop date.

• Gaddu Associates will have the option to purchase the freehold interest anytime within 5 years of practical 
completion of the refurbishment works for a purchase price of £1,000. 

• There is an obligation to set up a non-decision making group to report on and monitor progress with a meeting 
frequency of not less than once a quarter wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 57



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Next Steps
Gaddu Associates intend to fund this project through
• National Lottery Heritage Fund
• Gaddu Associates Bank Loan

The total projected cost for this project is between £4-£5 million. 

Gaddu Associates have worked closely with officers from National Lottery 
on the grant application. Heritage Lottery officers have spent a day on 
site with both Gaddu Associates and members of the Heathfield Park 
Community Action Network

National Heritage Lottery have indicated that they believe the restoration 
of Heath Town Baths is a viable scheme and have supported Gaddu 
through the Expression of Interest stage.

The final decision relies on Gaddu gaining both a planning consent 
(which they have achieved) and a legal interest in the land (to be 
achieved through the signing of the lease).

National Heritage Lottery require match funding of up to 20% of the total 
project cost. Expenditure already incurred by Gaddu (for example, in the 
preparation of the planning application) cannot be used as match funding.

Activities Indicative Dates

Planning Application Submission / 
Validation 

21 Sept 2022 / 12 
Oct 2022

Planning Application Approval  15 January 2023

External Funding Application to 
National Lottery Heritage Fund 
(NLHF). 
 
EOI – Application / Decision
 
Stage 1 Development Phase 
Application / Decision
Stage 2 Delivery Phase Application / 
Decision 

October 2023 / 
December 2023

January 2024 / 
April 2024
Summer 2024 / 
Late 2024

Detailed Design Works Complete Autumn 2024
Procurement of Building Works  Early 2025 
Commence Building Activities  Spring 2025 
Practical Completion Summer 2027
Building Operational / In Use   Late 2027

P
age 58



wolverhampton.gov.uk

The signing of the long lease to Gaddu Associates is a critical milestone in the delivery of the 
project as it will provide them with a legal interest in the site which will allow the following:

a. the completion, as previously discussed, of the funding application to National Lottery 
Heritage Fund;

b. the drawdown of pre-agreed private bank loans;
c. a range of utility connections to the site, notably power and telecoms;
d. the implementation of a series of emergency works to be funded and implemented by the 

developer to make the building weathertight and to allow the process of drying out to 
begin;

e. Immediate occupation of the former library;
f. transfer of all management and security responsibilities from the Council to the 

leaseholder

Next Steps (continued)

P
age 59



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Project Programme to Completion 

• Legal work is being progressed to facilitate the grant of the long lease.

• A draft of the full lease (125 years) was included as an appendix to the 
Agreement for Lease and therefore, save for some minor drafting alterations, 
can be agreed and signed straightaway

• The grant of a lease is fundamental as this will give Gaddu Associates a legal 
interest in the site to allow them to draw down pre agreed private bank loans / 
funding and make formal applications to the National Lottery Heritage Fund.

• Gaddu Associates will also be able to take occupation of the building, 
connect services including power and telecoms and control all aspects of site 
security.

• The Council’s role going forward will be to monitor progress against 
milestones set out in the lease and others as agreed with the developer. 

P
age 60



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Gaddu Associates – Financial Resources and 
Commitment to next steps
Gaddu Associates’ latest accounts reflect the financial resources which have been allocated to 
Heath Town Baths, mainly on the planning process and application.
Once a legal interest in the site is established (through the signing of the lease) their resources will 
be immediately directed to the following activity:
• Making the library air and water tight
• New electricity connection
• New water connection
• New gas connection
• Electrical works – CCTV, internal and external lighting

All this will be funded by Gaddu Associates whilst the National Lottery Heritage Fund Application is 
being processed.
Pre-arranged and approved bank loans will be drawn down as necessary.
In the event that Lottery Funding is unsuccessful, Gaddu Associates will privately fully fund the 
project albeit within a longer timeframe.

“We have made finance available as and when required and will continue to do so 
until the project is completed “  Raj Gaddu of Gaddu Associates

P
age 61



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Outputs & Outcomes

P
age 62


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	4 ‘Event City’: a new five-year event strategy for Wolverhampton
	5 National Brownfield Institute & Green Innovation Corridor
	6 Former Heath Town Baths



